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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
      

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 
 REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 

 
1. For the quarterly period ended 30 June 2015 

 
2. Commission identification number: CS200324966    
 
3.    BIR Tax Identification No.: 228-423-401-000 

 
4.   CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION 

Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter 
 

5.   Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Manila, Philippines 
 

6.   Industry Classification Code:                              (SEC Use Only)  
 

7. 14F Equitable Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, Salcedo Village, Makati City          1226 
Address of issuer's principal office                                                                 Postal Code 
 

8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: +63-2-856-0999 
 

9. Not Applicable 
Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report 
 

10.  Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA  
 

Title of each Class  Number of shares of common 
stock outstanding and amount 

of debt outstanding 
   

Common  2,820,330,450 
 

11.  Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
        Yes  []     No   [   ] 
 
If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and the class/es of securities listed therein: 
 

Philippine Stock Exchange  Common Stock 
 

12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 
(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 thereunder or 

Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of the 
Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter 
period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
          Yes  []     No   [   ]    Report: 17-A 
 
(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 

 
Yes  []      No   [   ]  
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PART 1 – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

Item 1. Financial Statements 
 
 
The interim consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2015 (Unaudited) and  
December 31, 2014 (Audited) and for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 and the 
related notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements of Century Peak Metals Holdings 
Corporation and Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) are filed as part of this 
Form 17-Q on pages 2 to 45. 
 
For purposes of segment reporting, the Group has no other reportable segment other than 
mining and conversion of mineral resources. 
 
There are no other material events subsequent to the end of this interim period that had not 
been reflected in the unaudited consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report.  
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

 Note 

June 30, 
2015 

(Unaudited) 

December 31,  
2014 

(Audited) 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    
Cash  P=13,760,694 P=99,529,835 
Trade and other receivables  46,879,250 256,787,152 
Inventories  160,530,400 49,922,332 
Due from related parties  54,351,628 20,288,939 
Other current assets  101,951,061 67,425,722 
  Total Current Assets  377,473,033 493,953,980 

    
Noncurrent Assets    
Investment properties 4 21,385,768 21,385,768 
Property and equipment – net 5 1,035,643,307 1,163,175,744 
Explored mineral resources – net 6 1,839,234,195 1,863,527,473 
Deferred tax assets 7 6,195,919 6,195,919 
Other noncurrent assets 8 32,828,329 38,409,981 
  Total Noncurrent Assets  2,935,287,518 3,092,694,885 

TOTAL ASSETS  P=3,312,760,551 P=3,586,648,865 
    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Current Liabilities    
Accounts payable and other current liabilities  P=130,316,558   P=278,321,858 
Due to related parties 10 290,969,979 392,113,755 

Total Current Liabilities  421,286,537 670,435,613 

Noncurrent Liability    
Provision for site rehabilitation costs    10,283,147 10,283,147 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  431,569,684 680,718,760 

Equity    
Capital stock  11 2,820,330,450 2,820,330,450 
Additional paid-in capital  1,931,550 1,931,550 
Retained Earnings  67,490,273 92,298,368 
 Total Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the 

Parent  2,889,752,273 2,914,560,368 
Equity attributable to minority interests  (8,561,406) (8,630,263) 
TOTAL EQUITY  2,881,190,867 2,905,930,105 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  P=3,312,760,551 P=3,586,648,865 
    
See accompanying Notes to Interim Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
INTERIM UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 Note 

 
April 1 to 

June 30, 2015 
January 1 to  

  June 30, 2015 

 
April 1 to 

June 30, 2014 
January 1 to  

June 30, 2014 

      
SALES    P=26,949,725 P=26,949,725 P=278,191,249 P=278,191,249 
COST AND EXPENSES      
   COST OF SALES  (24,121,931) (24,121,931) (202,766,141) (202,766,141) 
   DEPLETION OF         

EXPLORED MINERAL 
RESOURCES  

 
 

(24,293,278) (24,293,278) 

 
 

(25,197,771) (25,197,771) 

GROSS INCOME (LOSS)  (21,465,484) (21,465,484) 50,227,337 50,227,337 
Other Income  28,509,800 28,509,800   
Other expenses  (8,192,487) (8,192,487)   
Operating expenses  38,498,720 (20,279,266) 620,754 (17,097,398) 
Foreign exchange loss      (1,113,383)          (1,656,622)               (115,863) 
Loss on Disposal of PPE  (747,162) (747,162)   
Interest expense  (365,188)       (949,487) (97) (177) 
Interest income  27,651 41,470 2,082 2,199 

INCOME (LOSS) 
BEFORE INCOME TAX  

 
 

35,152,467 (24,739,238) 

 
 

50,850,076 33,016,098 

PROVISION FOR 
CURRENT INCOME 
TAX  

 
 
 

- – 

 

- – 

NET INCOME (LOSS) 
/TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
LOSS  

 
 

P=35,152,467 (P=24,739,238) 

 
 

P=50,850,076 P=33,016,098 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:      
Equity holders of the 

parent company  
 

P=34,854,476 
 

(P=24,808,095) 
 

P=51,034,645 P=33,839,120 
Minority interest  297,991 68,857 (184,569) (823,022) 
  P=35,152,467 (P=24,739,238) P=50,850,076 P=33,016,098 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share      
Basic/Diluted 14 P=0.012 (P=0.009) P=0.018 P=0.012 

      
See accompanying Notes to Interim Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
     



CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
INTERIM UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
 
 

 Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company 
Minority 

Interest Total Equity 

 Capital Stock 

Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital 

Retained  
Earnings 
(Deficit) Total   

Balance at January 1, 2015 P=2,820,330,450 P=1,931,550 P=92,298,368 P=2,914,560,368 (P=8,630,263) P=2,905,930,105 
Income (Loss) for the period –  (24,808,095) (24,808.095) 68,857 (24,739,238) 
Balance at June 30, 2015 P=2,820,330,450 P=1,931,550 P=67,490,273 P=2,889,752,273 (P=8,561,406) P=2,881,190,867 

Balance at January 1, 2014 P=2,820,330,450 P=1,931,550 (P=241,449,108) P=2,580,812,892 P=13,292,647 P=2,567,520,245 
Income (Loss) for the period – – 33,839,120 33,839,120 (823,022) 33,016,098 
Balance at June 30, 2014 P=2,820,330,450 P=1,931,550 (P=207,609,988) P=2,614,438,763 P=12,469,625 P=2,601,969,138 
See accompanying Notes to Interim Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
INTERIM UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
  For the Six Months Ended June 30  
    2015 2014 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
      ACTIVITIES 

  

 

Income (Loss) before income tax 
Adjustment for: 

 
(P=24,739,238) P=33,016,098 

      Depreciation and amortization 
 

98,666,801  26,579,352 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 

 
1,656,622 115,863 

Interest expense 
 

949,487  177  
Interest income 

 
(41,470) (2,199) 

Operating income before working capital 
      changes   76,492,202 59,709,291 
Decrease (increase) in: 

   Due from related parties 
 

(34,062,689) (5,552,258) 
 Trade and other receivables 

 
209,907,902 (183,035,623)  

Inventories 
 

(110,608,068)  27,147,769 
Other current assets 

 
(34,525,339) (45,860,517) 

Increase (decrease) in: 
   Accounts payable and other current liabilities 
 

(148,005,300)  341,027,478  
Net cash provided by (used in) operations 

 
(40,801,292) 193,436,140 

Interest received 
 

41,470  2,199 
Interest paid 

 
(949,487) - 

Income tax paid 
 

  (298,163)  
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities   (41,709,309)  193,140,176 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
      ACTIVITIES 

   Disposal (Acquisition) of property and 
equipment 

 
53,158,915 (284,590,679) 

Decrease (Increase) in other noncurrent assets   5,581,653 (23,631,127) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities   58,740,568 (308,221,806) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
      ACTIVITIES 

   Advances from (payments to) stockholders 
 

(101,143,778) 126,037,296 
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES IN 
CASH 

 
(1,656,622) 

 NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
 

(85,769,141)  10,955,666 
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD   99,529,835  4,126,670  
CASH AT END OF PERIOD   P=13,760,694  P=15,082,336  

        
See accompanying Notes to Interim Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO INTERIM UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
  

Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation (“CPMHC”, the “Company”, the “Parent 
Company”, or the “Issuer”), was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) on December 30, 2003.  

 
On April 14, 2008, the SEC approved the amendment of the Company’s articles of 
incorporation. Its primary purpose was changed to include promoting, operating, managing, 
holding, acquiring or investing in corporations or entities that are engaged in mining 
activities or mining-related activities. The Company further expanded its primary purpose by 
including investing in real estate development and energy. The amended articles of 
incorporation were approved by the SEC on March 18, 2010. 

The Company listed its common shares of stock with the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) 
on October 6, 2009. 

 
The registered office address of the Parent Company is at Units 1403 and 1404 BDO Equitable 
Bank Tower Condominium, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City. 

 
The Company has four subsidiaries, the wholly-owned subsidiary Century Peak Corporation 
(“CPC”), 55%-owned subsidiary Century Hua Guang Smelting Incorporated (“CHGSI”), 
60%-owned subsidiary Century Sidewide Smelting Incorporated (“CSSI”) and 80%-owned 
subsidiary, through CPC, Century Summit Carrier, Inc. (“CSCI”). 
 

Century Peak Corporation 
 

CPC is incorporated in the Philippines. It was registered with the SEC on March 30, 2006.  
 

The principal activities of CPC is to invest in and engage in the business of operating and mining 
of mineral resources in the Philippines such as iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead, manganese, 
chromites, nickel, etc. and prospecting, exploring, milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, 
treating, refining and manufacturing, and preparing for the market, whether export or domestic, 
and producing and dealing in all its products and by-products, whether export or domestic, and 
producing and dealing in all its products and by-products of every kind and description and by 
whatsoever the same can be or may hereafter be produced.  

 
On May 7, 2010 CPC was registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) with Certificate of 
Registration No. 2010-093, on its mining and extraction of nickel ore at Casiguran, Loreto, 
Province of Dinagat, as a new project on a Non-Pioneer Status under the Omnibus Investments 
Code of 1987 (Executive Order No. 226). 

 
As a BOI-registered entity, CPC is entitled to the following incentives, among others: 

a. Tax credit on taxes and duties paid on raw materials and supplies used in producing its 
export product for a period of 10 years from start of commercial operations; 

b. Importation of consigned equipment for a period of 10 years from date of registration, 
subject to posting of re-export bond; 
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c. Exemption from wharfage dues, any export tax, duties, imposts and fees for a 10 year 
period from date of registration; and 

d. Simplification of customs procedures for the importation of equipment, spare parts, raw 
materials and supplies. 

 
 

Century Hua Guang Smelting Incorporated 
 

CHGSI is incorporated in the Philippines. Its SEC Certificate of Registration was issued on 
January 14, 2008.  

 
The principal activities of CHGSI are to invest in and engage in the business of operating and 
mining mineral resources in the Philippines such as iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead, 
manganese, chromites, nickel, etc. and prospecting, exploring, milling, concentrating, converting, 
smelting, treating, refining and manufacturing, and preparing for the market, whether export or 
domestic, and producing and dealing in all its products and by-products of every kind and 
description and by whatsoever process the same can be or may hereafter be produced. 

 
On October 28, 2009, CHGSI was registered with PEZA under Certificate of Registration No.09-56 
for the production of ferro-nickel (pig iron) at the Leyte Industrial Development Estate - Special 
Economic Zone. 

By virtue of its PEZA Registration, CHGSI is entitled, among other incentives, to four (4) years 
Income Tax Holiday, which shall be reckoned upon its start of commercial operations, as well as 
tax and duty free importation of its capital equipment and raw materials, subject to its 
compliance with the terms and conditions of its registration. 

 
Moreover, CHGSI has an approved application with PEZA for its proposed Coking Coal 
Production Project, and the Supplemental Agreement to its Registration Agreement last 28th 
October 2009 was signed into effect last March 01, 2011. 

CHGSI Registration with MGB and EMB 
CHGSI has filed its application for a Mineral Processing Permit (MPP) for its Smelting Plant and 
is currently under evaluation with the MGB Regional Office, Region 8.It has received its 
Amended Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), with Reference Code 1003-0011 issued 
by the Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) - Central Office, to include the installation of a 
Coking Coal Plant, aside from its smelting plant, also to be located at the Leyte Industrial 
Development Estate (LIDE) in Isabel, Leyte. 

 
Century Sidewide Smelting Incorporated 

 
The Company entered into partnership with Sidewide Resources (H.K.) Limited, a subsidiary of 
Chaoyang Saiwai Mining Co., Ltd. of P.R. China.  This group owns an iron powder processing 
plant, electric furnace smelting plant, and primarily does trading of mineral ore.  They have 
offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Hong Kong.  It is the Company’s plan to set up electric furnaces 
in the future to enhance the production of its nickel pig-iron.  From this newly formed 
partnership CSSI was incorporated. 

  
CSSI is incorporated in the Philippines. Its SEC Certificate of Registration was issued on 
September 6, 2011. 

 
The primary purpose of CSSI is to invest in the business of operating and mining mineral 
resources (mineral ores) in the Philippines.  CSSI’s activities also involve prospecting, exploring, 
milling, smelting and preparing for market, whether export or domestic, of mineral ores. 
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Century Summit Carrier, Inc. 

 
On December 8, 2011, CSCI was registered with the Marina Industry Authority (“Marina”) with 
Certificate No. DSO-2006-003-095 (2011) under Marina Circular 2006-003 issued pursuant to 
Section 4 Paragraph 2 and Section 6 (a) of Presidential Decree No. 474 and Section 12 (a) of 
Executive Order No. 125-A Republic Act to engage in Domestic Shipping Business. The 
Certification is valid until 07 December 2014. 

 
Mineral Rights 
The table below summarizes the Group’s mineral rights, which were acquired through CPC, as at 
September 30, 2014: 

 

Tenement Designation 
Area Covered 
(in Hectares) Location 

Mineral Production Sharing 
Agreement (MPSA) 010-92-X 

1,198 Casiguran, Loreto, Dinagat 
Islands 

MPSA-283-2009-XIII-SMR 3,188 Libjo (Albor), Dinagat Islands 
Application for Mineral 

Production Sharing 
Agreement (APSA) 086-XIII 660 Acoje, Loreto, Dinagat Islands 

 
CPC acquired MPSA-010-92-X or the “Casiguran Nickel Project,” by virtue of a deed of 
assignment executed with Casiguran Mining Corporation on May 29, 2006, which was approved 
by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) on December 11, 2006. 

 
MPSA-283-2009-XIII-SMR was approved by the DENR on June 19, 2009. 

 
The Acoje Property is covered by APSA-086-XIII and Environmental Compliance Certificate 
(ECC) No. 008-345-301C. APSA-086-XIII is still in process with the MGB Central Office as at 
September 30, 2014.CPC is the operator of this property by virtue of Memorandum of Agreement 
between CPC and Maharlika Dragon Mining Corporation executed on April 4, 2008 and 
registered with the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) Regional Office No. XIII on July 30, 
2008. On March 25, 2014, CPC and CRAU Mineral Resources Corporation, owner of 47.5% of the 
property, entered into a Deed of Conditional Assignment transferring to the former the latter’s 
interest over the said mineral property. Initial payment for the property was made on June 11, 
2014 and the Deed of Conditional assignment was registered with MGB Regional Office No. XIII 
on July 4, 2014. 

 
CPC has a Joint Operating Agreement with the Philippine Mining Development Corporation 
(PMDC) as the operating partner for the exploration, development and mining operations of the 
Pinamungahan Limestone Property. This covers an area of 4,795 hectares located in Toledo and 
Pinamungahan, Cebu. 

 
 
2. Basis of Preparation 
 

Statement of Compliance  
The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
PFRSs consist of PFRSs, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs), and Philippine 
Interpretations issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC).  
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Basis of Measurement 
The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  
 
Basis of Consolidation 
The interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Group from the 
date control was obtained by the Parent Company. Equity attributed to the equity holders of 
the Parent Company is based on its share in net profits and net assets of the investees in 
accordance with the investees’ Articles of Incorporation. 
 
The interim consolidated financial statements reflect the consolidated accounts of the Group. 
Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the consolidation.  
 
The interim consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the Parent Company, using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
 
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Parent Company and whose accounts are 
included in the consolidated financial statements. Control exists when the Parent Company is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.  The financial 
statements of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date control ceases. 
 
Noncontrolling Interest 
Noncontrolling interest represents the interests not held by the Parent Company in its 
subsidiaries. 
 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency  
The interim consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. All financial information presented in Philippine peso has been 
rounded-off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
Use of Estimates and Judgments 
The preparation of the interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRSs 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements. The judgments and estimates used in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements are based on management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of 
the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 
 
Judgments, estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are 
based on historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Legal Contingencies 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, management, in consultation with outside 
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counsel handling the Group’s defense in legal matters, determined that there are no ongoing 
litigations filed against the Group that would have a material adverse impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 
The Company uses its judgment in determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, 
based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date and makes assessment of 
whether the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset and the arrangement transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Company. 
 
Operating Lease - The Company as Lessee 
The Company has entered into various arrangements covering the lease of its warehouse, 
equipment and residence of officers.  In determining whether all significant risks and 
rewards of ownership remain with the lessor or transferred to the lessee, the following 
factors are considered: 
 
a. the ownership of the asset does not transfer at the end of the lease term; 
 
b. there is no option to purchase the asset at a price which is expected to be sufficiently 

lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable such that, at the 
inception of the lease, it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised; 

 
c. the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not 

transferred; 
 
d. at the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to 

at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset; and 
 
e. the leased assets are of such a specialized nature that only the lessee can use them 

without major modifications. 
 
 
The Company has determined that the lessors retain all the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the properties and, as such, accounts for the agreements as operating leases. 
 
 
Estimates and Assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
as of reporting date that have the most significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities and equity within the next financial year are as 
follows: 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade Receivables 
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment losses on receivables at a level considered 
adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is 
evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts. 
These factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group’s relationship with the 
customer, the customer’s payment behavior and known market factors. The Group performs 
regular review of the age and status of receivables, designed to specifically identify accounts 
with objective evidence of impairment and provides these with the appropriate allowance for 
impairment losses. The review is accomplished using a combination of specific and collective 
assessment approaches, with the impairment losses being determined for each risk grouping 
identified by the Group. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different methodologies. An increase 
in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables would increase the recorded operating 
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expenses and decrease current assets.  
 
Trade and other receivables amounted to P46.88 million at June 30, 2015 and P256.79 million 
at December 31, 2014 
 
Estimating Net Realizable Value of Inventories 
In determining the net realizable value of inventories, the Company considers inventory 
obsolescence based on specific identification and as determined by management for 
inventories estimated to be unsaleable in the future. The Company adjusts the cost of 
inventories to the net realizable value at a level considered adequate to reflect any market 
decline in the value of the recorded inventories. The Company reviews, on a continuous 
basis, the product movement, changes in customer demands and introduction of new 
products to determine whether these items should still be used in operations or otherwise 
disposed of, and identifies inventories which are to be written-down to net realizable values. 
The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different 
judgments were made or different estimates were utilized. An increase in inventory 
obsolescence and market decline would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease 
current assets.  
 
As at June 30, 2015, the cost of inventories amounted to P160.53 million and P49.92 million at 
December 31, 2014. 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Input Value-added Tax (VAT) 
The Group maintains an allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to 
provide for probable unrecoverable amounts of input VAT. The level of this allowance is 
evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the recoverability of the account. 
 
Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment (Excluding Mine Site Development Cost) 
The Company reviews at each reporting date the estimated useful lives (EUL) of property 
and equipment (excluding mine site development cost) based on the period over which the 
assets are expected to be available for use and updates these expectations if actual results 
differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear and technical or commercial 
obsolescence. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. A reduction in 
the EUL of property and equipment (excluding mine site development cost) will increase the 
recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease noncurrent assets. 
 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, property and equipment (excluding mine site 
development cost), net of accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization, amounted 
to P1.04 billion and P1.16 billion, respectively (see Note 5). 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Non-financial Assets 
The Group assesses the impairment of its explored mineral resources, property and 
equipment and investment properties whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of the assets or group of assets may not be recoverable.  Factors that 
the Group considered in deciding when to perform impairment review includes the 
following, among others: 
 
 The period for which the Group has the right to explore the specific areas has expired or 

will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 
 
 Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 

in the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; 
 
 Exploration for the evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the 

discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has 
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decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;  
 
 Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely 

to proceed, the carrying amount of the explored mineral resource is unlikely to be 
recovered in full from successful development or by sale;  

 
 Significant under-performance of a business or product line in relation to expectations;  
 
 Significant negative industry or economic trends; or  
 
 Significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. 
 
In 2013, the Group has recognized impairment losses on its property and equipment 
amounting to P197.0 million, resulting from the destruction caused by typhoon Yolanda.  Fair 
value is based on current replacement costs. 
 
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, management assessed that there are no impairment 
indicators relating to the Group’s non-financial assets, other than input VAT.  Accordingly, 
the Group did not recognize any impairment losses on its non-financial assets in 2014 and 
2013. 
 
The carrying values of investment properties, property and equipment, and explored mineral 
resources are disclosed in Notes 4, 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, 
respectively. 
 
Valuation of Explored Mineral Resources 
The Group recognized explored mineral resources at its fair value as of initial recognition.  
The Group estimated the fair value based on the cash flow generation of the relevant mineral 
property covered by the acquired MPSA.  Assumptions and methods used in the estimation 
are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount initially 
recognized would differ if the Group utilized different valuation methodologies and 
assumptions.  Using a different amount to recognize the explored mineral resources as of 
initial recognition would affect the periodic amortization expense and any impairment losses 
which may be subsequently recognized.  

  
Estimating Recoverable Reserves 
Recoverable reserves and resource estimates for development projects are, to a large extent, 
based on the interpretation of geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling 
techniques and feasibility studies which derive estimates of costs based upon anticipated 
tonnage and grades of ores to be mined and processed, the configuration of the ore body, 
expected recovery rates from the ore, estimated operating costs, estimated climatic conditions 
and other factors.  Proven reserve estimates are attributed to future development projects 
only where there is a significant commitment to project funding and execution and for which 
applicable governmental and regulatory approvals have been secured or are reasonably 
certain to be secured. 
 
All proven reserve estimates are subject to revision, either upward or downward, based on 
new information, such as from block grading and production activities or from changes in 
economic factors, including product prices, contract terms or development plans. 
 
Estimates of reserves for undeveloped or partially developed areas are subject to greater 
uncertainty over their future life than estimates for reserves for areas that are substantially 
developed and depleted. As an area goes into production, the amount of proven reserves will 
be subject to future revision once additional information becomes available. As those areas 
are further developed, new information may lead to revisions. It is possible, however, that 
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought 
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about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amount and timing of recorded depletion 
expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. 
 
Estimating Provision for Site Rehabilitation 
In determining the provision for mine rehabilitation, the Group considers factors that affect the 
calculation of the ultimate liability.  These factors include, but not limited to, the extent and costs 
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes and changes in discount 
rates.  The Group reviews and updates these factors on a continuous basis. It is possible that 
future results of operations could be materially affected by change in the provision for site 
rehabilitation brought about by the changes in the factors mentioned. 
 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the provision for site rehabilitation costs 
amounted to P10.28 million. 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that items of 
property and equipment, investments in subsidiaries and investment properties may be 
impaired. Determining the amount of the assets, which requires the determination of future cash 
flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets, 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the separate 
financial statements. Further events could cause the Company to conclude that these assets are 
impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have material impact on the unconsolidated 
financial position and performance of the Company.  
 
The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves estimations and assumptions. While 
the Company believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in 
these assumptions may materially affect the Company’s assessment of the recoverable amounts 
and may lead to future additional impairment. 

 
Estimating Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets 
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and 
reduces the carrying amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Company 
also reviews the expected timing and tax rates upon reversal of temporary differences and adjusts 
the impact of deferred tax accordingly. The Company’s assessment on the recognition of deferred 
tax assets is based on the forecasted taxable income of the subsequent reporting periods. This 
forecast is based on the Company’s past results and future expectations on revenues and 
expenses. 
 
Recognized deferred tax assets amounted to P6.20 million as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 
2014 (see Note 7). 
 
 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in 
these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group, 
except for the changes in accounting policies as explained below. 
 
Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Amendments to Standards 
The Group has adopted the following new or revised standards and amendments to 
standards starting January 1, 2014 and accordingly, changed its accounting policies in 
relation thereto. Except as otherwise indicated, the adoption of these new or revised 
standards and amendments to standards did not have any significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Adoption of Amendments to Standards 
The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards and new interpretation 
starting January 1, 2014 and accordingly, changed its accounting policies. Except as otherwise 
indicated, the adoption of these amendments to standards and interpretation did not have 
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to PAS 32). These 

amendments clarify that: 
 
• an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off if that right is: 

- not contingent on a future event; and 
- enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, 

insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties; and 
  

• gross settlement is equivalent to net settlement if and only if the gross settlement 
mechanism has features that: 
- eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk; and 
- process receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle. 
 

 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to PAS 36). These 
narrow-scope amendments to PAS 36 address the disclosure of information about the 
recoverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is based on fair value less costs of 
disposal. The amendments clarified that the scope of those disclosures is limited to the 
recoverable amount of impaired assets that is based on fair value less costs of disposal. 
 

 Measurement of short-term receivables and payables (Amendment to PFRS 13). The 
amendment clarifies that, in issuing PFRS 13 and making consequential amendments to 
PAS 39 and PFRS 9, the intention is not prevent entities from measuring short-term 
receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at their invoiced amounts 
without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is immaterial. 

 
Recognition of Financial Instruments 
Date of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
consolidated statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets 
and liabilities on initial recognition and, where applicable and appropriate,  
re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. In the case of a regular way purchase or 
sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulations or convention in the marketplace. 
 
Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair 
value, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement date.  The fair value 
of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price (i.e., the fair 
value of the consideration given or received).  If a financial asset is not subsequently 
accounted for at FVPL, the initial measurement includes transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination. 
 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: HTM investments, AFS 
financial assets, FVPL financial assets and loans and receivables. The Group classifies its 
financial liabilities as either FVPL financial liabilities or other financial liabilities. The 
classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing financial instruments 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments. The management 
determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition and, 
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where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 
 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Group has no designated FVPL financial 
assets and liabilities and HTM investments. 
 
Loans and Receivables.  Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the 
intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS or FVPL financial 
assets. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value. After initial recognition, loans and 
receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
less any allowance for impairment losses, if: 
 
 the loans and receivables are held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

such assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 

 the contractual terms of the loans and receivables give rise, on specified dates, to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized 
in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through amortization process. Loans and receivables are classified as current assets if 
maturity is within 12 months from the reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified as 
noncurrent assets. 
 
Loans and receivables comprise cash, trade receivables, amounts due from related parties, 
long-term receivable, advances to employees, suppliers and third parties and rehabilitation 
funds. 
 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks, which is stated at face value. 
 
The current portion of the Group’s long-term receivable and advances to employees, 
suppliers and third parties are included as part of “Other current assets” account in the 
consolidated statements of financial position.  The noncurrent portion of long-term receivable 
and rehabilitation funds are included as part of “Other noncurrent assets” account in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
AFS Financial Assets. AFS securities are financial assets which are designated as such, or do 
not qualify to be classified or have not been classified under any other financial category. 
They are purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response to liquidity 
requirements or changes in market conditions. These include debt and equity securities. 
 
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Changes in fair value, other than impairment losses, and foreign currency differences on AFS 
equity securities are recognized in other comprehensive income as “Unrealized gains or 
losses on AFS securities” and are presented within equity. The losses arising from the 
impairment of such securities are recognized in profit or loss. When the security is disposed 
of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is 
transferred to profit or loss. The effective yield component of AFS debt securities, as well as 
the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported 
in profit or loss. 
 
When the fair value of AFS financial assets cannot be measured reliably because of lack of 
reliable estimates of unobserved inputs such as in the case of unquoted equity instruments, 
these financial assets are allowed to be carried at cost less impairment, if any. 
 



 

17 | P a g e  
 

This category includes equity securities not held for control or significant influence over the 
investee. 
 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the AFS financial assets represent the Group’s 
investments in the common shares of Century Peak Property Development, Inc. (CPPDI). 
These equity instruments do not have a quoted market price in an active market and are 
measured at cost less impairment, if any. 
 
Other Financial Liabilities. This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for 
trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include 
liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 
 
The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest method of 
amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
Included in this category are the Group’s accounts payable and other current liabilities and 
amounts due to related parties that meet the above definition (other than liabilities covered 
by other PFRSs, such as income tax payable). 
 
‘Day 1’ Profit. Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair 
value of other observable current market transactions of the same instrument or based on a 
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group 
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value  
(a ‘Day 1’ profit) in profit or loss. In cases where no observable data are used, the difference 
between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the 
Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the  
‘Day 1’ profit amount. 
 
Offsetting Financial Instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the consolidated statements of financial position if, and only if, the 
Group has an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
This is generally not the case with master netting agreements, thus, the related assets and 
liabilities are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
 The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; 

 
 The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 
“pass through” arrangement; or 

 
 The Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either has: 

(a) transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
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transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to pay. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, with the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Determination of Fair Values  
The Group’s accounting policies require the determination of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes, when necessary, based on the estimated amounts that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal 
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. When applicable, the Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.  
Information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes 
specific to that asset or liability. 
 
Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 
used in the valuation techniques as follows: 
 
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities; 

 
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices); and 
 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorized in its 
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
recognized at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories, which consist of nickel and chromite ores, are measured at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value (NRV).  NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. The Group uses the weighted average method of inventory costing. Under the weighted 
average cost formula, the cost of each item is determined from the weighted average of the 
cost of similar items at the beginning of a period and the cost of similar items purchased or 
produced during the period. The average may be calculated on a periodic basis, or as each 
additional shipment is received, depending upon the circumstances of the entity. 
 
Cost represents the weighted average cost and comprises direct materials, labor and an 
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appropriate portion of fixed and variable production overhead expenditure on the basis of 
normal operating capacity, including depreciation and amortization incurred in converting 
materials to finished products. 
 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The Group ‘s 
investment properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at cost less any 
impairment in value. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when these have been disposed or when the 
investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit 
is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment 
properties are recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, 
evidenced by ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another 
party.  Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a 
change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of 
development with a view to sale. 
 
Transfers between investment property, owner-occupied property and inventories do not 
change the carrying amount of the property transferred and they do not change the cost of 
that property for measurement or disclosure purposes. 
 
Explored Mineral Resources 
Explored mineral resources represent the Group’s intangible asset for its right to mine certain 
areas. Such intangible asset, which has a definite useful life, was acquired by the Group in 
relation to its acquisition of a group of assets. 
 
Explored mineral resources are measured at cost of acquisition less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Amortization of explored mineral 
resources is calculated using the units-of-production method based on estimated recoverable 
reserves, as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. 
 
Amortization shall begin when the nickel ore extraction begins or when the mine site is in the 
condition when it is capable to operate in the manner intended by management, whichever is 
earlier. Amortization shall cease at the earlier of the date that the intangible assets is classified 
as held for sale in accordance with PFRS 5 and the date that asset is derecognized. 

 
The estimated recoverable reserves and the amortization method are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the estimated recoverable reserves and method of depletion are consistent with 
the expected pattern of economic benefits from the explored mineral resources. If the 
estimated recoverable reserve is different from previous estimates, the basis of depletion shall 
be changed accordingly. 
 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depletion, depreciation, 
amortization and impairment losses, if any. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in 
value. 
 
Initially, an item of property and equipment is measured at its cost, which consists of its 
purchase price and any directly attributable cost in bringing the asset to the location and 
condition for its intended use. Subsequent costs (including costs of replacing a part of an item 
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of property and equipment) that can be measured reliably are added to the carrying amount 
of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will 
flow to the Group. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of 
day-to-day servicing of an asset are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the EUL of 
the assets. Depreciation, amortization and depletion commences once the assets become 
available for use. Leasehold improvements are amortized using straight-line method over the 
shorter of their EUL or corresponding lease terms. 

 
 Number of Years 

Transportation and field equipment 4 - 10  
Office equipment 3 - 5  
Barge and boats 
Improvements 

                4  
               10  

 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation, amortization and depletion 
methods are reviewed annually and adjusted, if appropriate, to ensure that the methods and 
period of depreciation, amortization and depletion are consistent with the expected pattern 
of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. Any change in the expected 
residual values, EUL and methods of depreciation, amortization and depletion is adjusted 
prospectively from the time the change was determined necessary. 
 
When an asset is disposed of, or is retired from use and no future economic benefits are 
expected from its disposal, the cost and accumulated depreciation, amortization, depletion 
and impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss 
arising from the retirement or disposal of property and equipment (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Construction in progress represents property and equipment under construction and is 
stated at cost. This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Assets under 
construction are transferred to the related property and equipment account when the 
construction and installation and related activities necessary to prepare the property and 
equipment for the intended use are completed, and the property and equipment are ready for 
services.  Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets 
are completed and put into operational use but tested for impairment losses. 
 
Mine site development costs represent the cost of road network, pier, stockyard and other 
costs incurred in constructing the production infrastructure. When exploration results are 
positive or commercially viable, cost incurred for development of mining properties are 
deferred as incurred. 
 
Depletion of mine site development cost is computed based on ore extraction over the 
estimated volume of proven and probable ore reserves, as estimated by the Group’s geologist 
and certified by an independent geologist, or over the estimated life of specific components 
whichever results in a shorter period of depletion. 
 
Mine site development cost is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on 
the derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the assets) is included in profit or loss in the year the item is 
derecognized. 
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Assets Held for Sale 
Noncurrent assets or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-
for-sale if its highly probable that they will recovered primarily through sale rather than 
through continuing use. 
 
Such assets or disposal groups are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less cost of disposal. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first 
to goodwill and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no 
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, 
or investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Company’s 
other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and 
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized on profit or loss. 
 
Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible asset and property, plant and equipment are no 
long amortized or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity 
accounted. 
 
Impairment  
Financial Assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at 
amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). 
Time value is generally not considered when the effect of the discounting is not material. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Interest 
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original 
effective interest rate of the asset. The financial assets, together with the associated allowance 
accounts, is written-off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all 
collateral, if any, has been realized or has been transferred to the Group. Impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the 
asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that 
group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed, either directly or by adjusting an 
allowance account. Any subsequent reversal is recognized in profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 
 
Non-financial Assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, such as property and equipment, 
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explored mineral resources, investment properties and other noncurrent assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired, or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognized 
for an asset in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such 
indication exists and when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount, the asset or cash-generating units (CGU) to which the asset belongs is written-down 
to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or 
investments or, if it is not possible, for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 
 
The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset is the greater of the asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value is the amount obtainable from the sale of 
the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement date, less 
the costs of disposal. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
delivered from an asset or CGU. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that 
does not generate cash flows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss in the year in which it 
arises. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however, not to an amount 
higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated 
depreciation and amortization for property and equipment, net of any depletion for mine site 
development cost) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. After such reversal, the 
depreciation, amortization and depletion expense is adjusted in future years to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining life. 
 
Equity 
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.  When the 
Group issues more than one class of stock, a separate account is maintained for each class of 
stock and the number of shares issued. 
 
When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par value 
is credited to “Additional paid-in capital” account.  When shares are issued for a 
consideration other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the 
consideration received.  In case the shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the 
Group, the shares shall be measured either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair value 
of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably determinable. 
 
Direct cost incurred related to the equity issuance, such as underwriting, accounting and 
legal fees, printing costs and taxes are chargeable to additional paid-in capital. If additional 
paid-in capital is not sufficient, the excess is charged to deficit. 
 
Retained earnings represent the accumulated income of the Group. 
 
Revenue  
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 
Sale of Minerals 
Revenue from sale of minerals, such as nickel and chromite ores, is recognized in profit or 
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loss on the date that minerals are delivered to the customer.  Revenue is the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of taxes, such as VAT (if applicable). 
 
Interest Income  
Revenue is recognized as the interest accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the 
asset. 
 
Expenses 
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of 
outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, 
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Expenses are generally 
recognized when the services are rendered or the expenses are incurred. 
 
Cost of Sales 
Cost of sales is recognized when the expense is incurred and is reported in the consolidated 
financial statements in the periods to which it relates. 
 
 
Operating Expenses 
Expenses incurred in the general administration of the day-to-day operation of the Group are 
generally recognized when the service is rendered or the expense is incurred. 
 
Taxes 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in 
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in 
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Current Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute this 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred Tax 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes and the carry forward tax benefits of the net operating 
loss carryover (NOLCO) and the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the 
regular corporate income tax (RCIT). The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the 
expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
carry forward benefits of NOLCO and MCIT, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax is not recognized for: 
 
 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss; 
 

 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; 
and 
 

 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date. A deferred tax 



 

24 | P a g e  
 

asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward tax 
benefits of NOLCO and MCIT can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the 
impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The 
Group believes that its accrual for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on 
its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. Tax 
assessments rely on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about 
future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its 
judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax availabilities; such changes to tax liabilities 
will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 
 
VAT 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except: 
 
 where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 

the tax authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 
 receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Final Tax 
Final tax represents tax on interest income derived from bank deposits. Final tax is 
recognized in profit or loss in the same period when the related interest income is recognized 
and is withheld by the depository bank for remittance to the taxing authority. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
The functional and presentation currency of the Group is the Philippine peso. Transactions in 
foreign currencies are recorded in Philippine peso based on the exchange rates prevailing at 
the transaction dates. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated into Philippine peso using the prevailing exchange rate at the reporting date. 
Exchange gains or losses arising from translation of foreign currency denominated items at 
rate different from those at which they were previously recorded are recognized in profit or 
loss. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized 
for future operating losses. 

 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risk specific to the obligation.  Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense.   
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Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognized only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in profit or loss, net of any reimbursement. 
 
Provision for Site Rehabilitation 
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 
required to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  The 
nature of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, 
rehabilitating mines and tailing dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and 
waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas.  The obligation 
generally arises when the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location.  
When the liability is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated cost is capitalized 
by increasing the carrying amount of the related mine assets.  Overtime, the discounted 
liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect 
current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability.  The periodic unwinding of 
the discount is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income as a finance cost.  
Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions or 
charges to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  They are 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to 
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Related Parties 
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Such relationship 
also exists between and/or among entities which are under common control with the 
reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprise and its key 
management personnel, directors, or its stockholders.  In considering each possible related 
party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely 
the legal form. 
 
 
Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Basic earnings (loss) per share in the consolidated financial statements is determined by 
dividing net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding, after giving retroactive effect to any stock 
dividends declared during the year. Diluted EPS is computed in the same manner as basic 
EPS, however, net income attributable to common shares and the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 
 
Events After the Reporting Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial 
position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements.  Post year-end events that are non adjusting events are disclosed when material. 
 
Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods 
beginning after January 1, 2014.  However, the Group has not applied the following new or 
amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unless otherwise 
stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
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financial statements. 
 
Effective July 1, 2014 
 
 Annual Improvements to PFRSs: 2010 - 2012 and 2011 - 2013 Cycles - Amendments were 

made to a total of nine standards, with changes made to the standards on business 
combinations and fair value measurement in both cycles. Most amendments will apply 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. Earlier application is 
permitted, in which case the related consequential amendments to other PFRSs would 
also apply. Special transitional requirements have been set for amendments to the 
following standards: PFRS 2, PAS 16, PAS 38 and PAS 40.  The following are the said 
improvements or amendments to PFRSs, none of which has a significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group: 

 
• Scope of portfolio exception (Amendment to PFRS 13). The scope of the PFRS 13 portfolio 

exception - whereby entities are exempted from measuring the fair value of a group 
of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting risk positions on a net basis 
if certain conditions are met - has been aligned with the scope of PAS 39 and PFRS 9.  
 
PFRS 13 has been amended to clarify that the portfolio exception potentially applies 
to contracts in the scope of PAS 39 and PFRS 9 regardless of whether they meet the 
definition of a financial asset or financial liability under PAS 32 - e.g. certain contracts 
to buy or sell non-financial items that can be settled net in cash or another financial 
instrument. 
 

• Definition of ‘related party’ (Amendment to PAS 24). The definition of a ‘related party’ is 
extended to include a management entity that provides key management personnel 
(KMP) services to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group entity. For 
related party transactions that arise when KMP services are provided to a reporting 
entity, the reporting entity is required to separately disclose the amounts that it has 
recognized as an expense for those services that are provided by a management 
entity; however, it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and 
disclose compensation paid by the management entity to the individuals providing 
the KMP services. The reporting entity will also need to disclose other transactions 
with the management entity under the existing disclosure requirements of PAS 24 - 
e.g. loans. 

 
 
Effective January 1, 2016 
 
 Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle. This cycle of improvements contains 

amendments to four standards, none of which are expected to have significant impact on 
the Company’s financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier application is permitted. 
 
• Changes in method for disposal (Amendment to PFRS 5). PFRS 5 is amended to clarify 

that: 
 
if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) -
i.e. reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from held-for-distribution to owners to 
held-for-sale (or vice versa) without any time lag - then the change in classification is 
considered a continuation of the original plan of disposal and the entity continues to 
apply held-for-distribution or held-for-sale accounting. At the time of the change in 
method, the entity measures the carrying amount of the asset (or disposal group) and 
recognizes any write-down (impairment loss) or subsequent increase in the fair value 
less costs to sell/distribute of the asset (or disposal group); and 
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if an entity determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets the criteria 
to be classified as held-for-distribution, then it ceases held-for-distribution 
accounting in the same way as it would cease held-for-sale accounting. 
 
Any change in method of disposal or distribution does not, in itself, extend the 
period in which a sale has to be completed. 
 
The amendment to PFRS 5 is applied prospectively in accordance with PAS 8 to 
changes in methods of disposal that occur on or after January 1, 2016. 

 
Effective January 1, 2018 
 
 PFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014). PFRS 9 (2014) replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement, and supersedes the previously published versions of PFRS 9 
that introduced new classifications and measurement requirements (in 2009 and 2010) 
and a new hedge accounting model (in 2013). PFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the 
classification and measurement of financial assets, including a new expected credit loss 
model for calculating impairment, guidance on own credit  risk  on financial liabilities 
measured at fair value and supplements  the new general hedge accounting  
requirements published in 2013. PFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting 
requirements that represent a major overhaul of hedge accounting and introduces 
significant improvements by aligning the accounting more closely with risk 
management. 
 
The new standard is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted. 

 
4. Investment Properties 
 

Investment properties consist of two parcels of land with carrying amount of  
P21.4 million as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Fair values, which represent the 
price that would be received to sell the investment properties in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, amounted to P35.4 million as at  
June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.  
 
The non-recurring fair values of investment properties are determined by the Group through 
an independent property appraiser using the market data approach. In this approach, the 
values of the parcels of land are based on sales and listings of comparable property registered 
within the vicinity. The comparison is premised on the factors of location, size and share of 
the lot, time element and others. 

 
5. Property and Equipment 
 

The carrying value of property and equipment amounted to P=1.04 billion and  
P=1.16 billion as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. 
 
This account includes mine site development costs include costs incurred in the construction 
of road network, pier and stockyard.  Measurement and recognition of this asset refers to 
those of property and equipment being used to develop and maintain CPC’s mineral right 
property in Casiguran Property which has indicated various degrees of nickel mineralization. 
 
On May 2015, CPC and Civic Merchandising Inc. have agreed to return the 15 units of VOLVO 
Dump Trucks. Necessary adjustments were made in the records of CPC. 
 
Mine site development costs, transportation and field equipment were part of the group of 
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assets acquired. These assets are initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position based on allocation of the total acquisition cost using their relative fair value. 
 
Allowance for Impairment Losses on Property and Equipment 
The Group has recognized provision for impairment losses on its property and equipment 
amounting to P197.0 million in 2013, following the impairment of certain equipments, 
construction in progress and parcels of land of CHGSI in Leyte caused by typhoon Yolanda in 
November 2013. The impaired assets have a carrying value of P251.4 million as at December 
31, 2013. The fair value of these assets amounting to P54.4 million was based on the current 
replacement costs as appraised as of April 2, 2014 by Cuervo Appraisers, Inc., an independent 
property appraiser.  
 
As at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, construction in progress represents the installation 
of CHGSI’s smelting plant which is expected to be completed in 2016. 
 

6. Explored Mineral Resources 
 

Explored mineral resources are part of the group of assets of CPC that were acquired in 2008, 
in exchange for shares of stock of the Parent Company.  At acquisition date, these explored 
mineral resources were measured based on the expected cash flows from the explored area of 
about 400 hectares or 42.0% of total area covered by the MPSA.  
 
The valuation also considered CPC’s existing exploration permit in Puerto Princesa, Palawan 
covering an estimated area of 3,188.3 hectares and exploration permit application in Albor, 
Surigao del Norte with an estimated area of 5,136.3 hectares, without assigning financial or 
monetary value. Costs of exploration permits were immaterial and were charged to profit or 
loss. In addition, the valuation did not include any assignment of operating agreements and 
additional mining tenements that may contain other minerals. 
 
The financial model yielded an expected NPV on CPC’s group of assets amounting to P2.0 
billion using an investment hurdle rate of 36.6%. The NPV computation assumed an average 
selling price of USD 27,500 per metric ton of pure nickel, which considered a 16.2% discount 
to London Metal Exchange quoted prices; a 15-year production and selling period with a 
maximum annual production yield of 2.0 million metric tons; and an average production cost 
of USD 6.4 per wet metric ton. The valuation was prepared by Asian Alliance Investment 
Corporation (AAIC), an independent financial advisor. Subsequently, the Parent Company 
appointed Multinational Investment Bancorporation (MIB), another independent financial 
advisor, to render fairness opinion to the valuation. The result of MIB’s report dated April 9, 
2008 fairly approximated that of AAIC’s report. 
 
For purposes of computing the net present value using discounted cash flow method, the 
valuation of intangible assets involves the extraction of non-replaceable resource. 
 
The assumptions used in the valuation included a number of market factors that are subject 
to market risk, such as commodity risk and currency risk. Significant changes in the 
commodity prices and foreign exchange rates would affect the fair value of the explored 
mineral resource. 
 
The carrying value of explored mineral resources amounted to P=1.84 billion as at 
June 30, 2015 and P=1.86 billion at December 31, 2014. 

 
7. Deferred Tax Assets 
 

The Group’s deferred tax assets in the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 amounted to P6.20 million. 
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8. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 

The other noncurrent assets pertain mainly to the non-current portion of deferred input vat 
and funds to promote the welfare of inhabitants, amounting to P32.83 million and P38.41 
million as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. 

 
Rehabilitation funds were set up by the Group to ensure availability of financial resources for 
the satisfactory compliance with and performance of activities of its Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Program during the specific phases of its mining projects. The 
funds also include a Social Development Management Program fund under a Memorandum 
of Agreement with the Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP). 

 
The Group’s rehabilitation funds are deposited with the said bank and earn interest at the 
respective bank deposit rates. 
 
AFS financial assets pertain to the Parent Company’s 3.0% ownership interest in CPPDI 
representing 15,000 shares at P100.00 par value, which are measured at cost in the absence of 
fair value. 

 
9. Registration with the Board of Investments (BOI); Philippine Economic Zone Authority 

(PEZA); Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) and Environment Management Bureau 
(EMB) 
 
CPC Registration with BOI 
On May 7, 2010 CPC was registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) with Certificate of 
Registration No. 2010-093, on its mining and extraction of nickel ore at Casiguran, Loreto, 
Province of Dinagat, as a new project on a Non-Pioneer Status under the Omnibus 
Investments Code of 1987 (Executive Order No. 226).   
 
As a BOI registered entity, CPC is entitled to the following incentives, among others: 

a. Tax credit on taxes and duties paid on raw materials and supplies used in producing its 
export product for a period of 10 years from start of commercial operations; 

b.  Importation of consigned equipment for a period of 10 years from date of registration, 
subject to posting of re-export bond; 

c. Exemption from wharfage dues, any export tax, duties, imposts and fees for a 10 year 
period from date of registration; and 

d. Simplification of customs procedures for the importation of equipment, spare parts, raw 
materials and supplies. 

 
CHGSI Registration with PEZA 
On October 28, 2009, CHGSI was registered with PEZA under Certificate of Registration 
No.09-56 for the production of ferro-nickel (pig iron) at the Leyte Industrial Development 
Estate - Special Economic Zone. 

By virtue of its PEZA Registration, CHGSI is entitled, among other incentives, to four (4) 
years Income Tax Holiday, which shall be reckoned upon its start of commercial operations, 
as well as tax and duty free importation of its capital equipment and raw materials, subject to 
its compliance with the terms and conditions of its registration. 

 
Moreover, CHGSI has an approved application with PEZA for its proposed Coking Coal 
Production Project, and the Supplemental Agreement to its Registration Agreement last 28th 
October 2009 was signed into effect last March 01, 2011. 
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CHGSI Registration with MGB and EMB 
CHGSI has filed its application for a Mineral Processing Permit (MPP) for its Smelting Plant 
and is currently under evaluation with the MGB Regional Office, Region 8; while it has 
already received its Amended Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), with Reference 
Code 1003-0011 issued by the Environmental Management Bureau (EMB), Central Office, to 
include the installation of a Coking Coal Plant, aside from its smelting plant, also to be 
located at the Leyte Industrial Development Estate (LIDE) in Isabel, Leyte 

 
10. Related Party Transactions 
 

Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, 
control, or are controlled by, or under common control with the Group, including holding 
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related entities of the Group.  Associates 
and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group 
that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, 
including directors and officers of the Group and close members of the family of these 
individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related entities.  
Transactions between related parties are accounted for at arm’s-length prices or on terms 
similar to those offered to nonrelated entities in an economically comparable market. 
 
In considering each possible related entity relationship, attention is directed to the substance 
of the relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
 
Significant related party transactions represent mainly availment of non-interest-bearing 
advances from a stockholder for working capital purposes. As at June 30, 2015 and December 
31, 2014, total outstanding advances from a stockholder amounted to P=290.97 million and P=
392.11 million, respectively. The advances are payable on demand. 
 
Due to related Parties as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 amounted to P=54.35 million 
and P=20.29 million, respectively. 
 
The outstanding balances are unsecured without fixed repayment terms and interest. 

 
11. Capital Stock 
 

Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock are as follows: 
 

 

 June 30, 
2015 

(Unaudited) 

December 31, 
2014 

(Audited) 
Number of authorized shares 3,575,000,000 3,575,000,000 
Par value P=1.00 P=1.00 
Number of issued shares 2,820,330,450 2,820,330,450 
Amount P=2,820,330,450 P=2,820,330,450 
   

 
12. Seasonality 
 

The Company has no significant seasonality or cyclicality in its business operations that 
would have material effect on the financial condition or results of operations. 

 
13. Retained Earnings 
 

Following is the movement of retained earnings attributable to Parent Company from 
December 31, 2014 to June 30, 2015: 
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Balance at December 31, 2014  P=92,298,368 
Net loss  (24,808,095) 
Balance at June 30, 2015  P=67,490,273 

 
14. Earnings Per Share Computation 

 
The following table presents information necessary to calculate earnings per share for the six 
months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014: 
 

 
January 1 to  

June 30, 2015 
January 1 to  

June 30, 2014 
Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 

Parent Company (a) (P=24,808,095) P=33,839,120 

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding (b) 2,820,330,450 2,820,330,450 

Basic/diluted loss per share (a/b) (P=0.009) P=0.012 
 
The Parent Company has no dilutive shares as of June 30, 2015. 
 

Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations 
 
The following discussion and analysis relate to the consolidated financial position and results of 
operations of CPMHC and its subsidiaries and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
interim unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes. The Company cautions that its 
business and financial performance is subject to certain risks and uncertainties. In evaluating the 
Company’s business, investors should carefully consider all of the information contained in “Risk 
Factors." 
 
2.1  OVERVIEW 
 
Century Peak Metals Holdings Corporation (“CPMHC”, the “Company”, the “Parent Company”, or 
the “Issuer”), was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on 
December 30, 2003.   
 
On April 14, 2008, the SEC approved the amendment of the Company’s articles of incorporation. Its 
primary purpose was changed to include promoting, operating, managing, holding, acquiring or 
investing in corporations or entities that are engaged in mining activities or mining-related activities. 
The Company further expanded its primary purpose by including investing in real estate 
development and energy. The amended articles of incorporation were approved by the SEC on 
March 18, 2010. 

The Company listed its common shares of stock with the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) on 
October 6, 2009. 
 
The registered office address of the Parent Company is at Units 1403 and 1404 Equitable Bank Tower 
Condominium, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City. 
 
The Company has four subsidiaries, the wholly-owned subsidiary Century Peak Corporation 
(“CPC”), 55%-owned subsidiary Century Hua Guang Smelting Incorporated (“CHGSI”), 60%-owned 
subsidiary Century Sidewide Smelting Incorporated (“CSSI”) and 80%-owned subsidiary, through 
CPC, Century Summit Carrier, Inc. (“CSCI”). 
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Century Peak Corporation 
 
CPC is incorporated in the Philippines. It was registered with the SEC on March 30, 2006.  
 
The principal activities of CPC is to invest in and engage in the business of operating and mining of 
mineral resources in the Philippines such as iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead, manganese, 
chromites, nickel, etc. and prospecting, exploring, milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, 
treating, refining and manufacturing, and preparing for the market, whether export or domestic, and 
producing and dealing in all its products and by-products, whether export or domestic, and 
producing and dealing in all its products and by-products of every kind and description and by 
whatsoever the same can be or may hereafter be produced.  
 
On May 7, 2010 CPC was registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) with Certificate of 
Registration No. 2010-093, on its mining and extraction of nickel ore at Casiguran, Loreto, Province of 
Dinagat, as a new project on a Non-Pioneer Status under the Omnibus Investments Code of 1987 
(Executive Order No. 226). 
 
As a BOI-registered entity, CPC is entitled to the following incentives, among others: 

a. Tax credit on taxes and duties paid on raw materials and supplies used in producing its 
export product for a period of 10 years from start of commercial operations; 

b. Importation of consigned equipment for a period of 10 years from date of registration, 
subject to posting of re-export bond; 

c. Exemption from wharfage dues, any export tax, duties, imposts and fees for a 10 year 
period from date of registration; and 

d. Simplification of customs procedures for the importation of equipment, spare parts, raw 
materials and supplies. 

 
 
Century Hua Guang Smelting Incorporated 
 
CHGSI is incorporated in the Philippines. Its SEC Certificate of Registration was issued on January 
14, 2008.  
 
The principal activities of CHGSI are to invest in and engage in the business of operating and mining 
mineral resources in the Philippines such as iron ore, copper, gold, silver, lead, manganese, 
chromites, nickel, etc. and prospecting, exploring, milling, concentrating, converting, smelting, 
treating, refining and manufacturing, and preparing for the market, whether export or domestic, and 
producing and dealing in all its products and by-products of every kind and description and by 
whatsoever process the same can be or may hereafter be produced. 
 
On October 28, 2009, CHGSI was registered with PEZA under Certificate of Registration No.09-56 for 
the production of ferro-nickel (pig iron) at the Leyte Industrial Development Estate - Special 
Economic Zone. 

By virtue of its PEZA Registration, CHGSI is entitled, among other incentives, to four (4) years 
Income Tax Holiday, which shall be reckoned upon its start of commercial operations, as well as tax 
and duty free importation of its capital equipment and raw materials, subject to its compliance with 
the terms and conditions of its registration. 
 
Moreover, CHGSI has an approved application with PEZA for its proposed Coking Coal Production 
Project, and the Supplemental Agreement to its Registration Agreement last 28th October 2009 was 
signed into effect last March 01, 2011. 
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CHGSI Registration with MGB and EMB 
CHGSI has filed its application for a Mineral Processing Permit (MPP) for its Smelting Plant and is 
currently under evaluation with the MGB Regional Office, Region 8.It has received its Amended 
Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), with Reference Code 1003-0011 issued by the 
Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) - Central Office, to include the installation of a Coking 
Coal Plant, aside from its smelting plant, also to be located at the Leyte Industrial Development 
Estate (LIDE) in Isabel, Leyte. 
 
 
Century Sidewide Smelting Incorporated 
 
The Company entered into partnership with Sidewide Resources (H.K.) Limited, a subsidiary of 
Chaoyang Saiwai Mining Co., Ltd. of P.R. China.  This group owns an iron powder processing plant, 
electric furnace smelting plant, and primarily does trading of mineral ore.  They have offices in 
Beijing, Shanghai and Hong Kong.  It is the Company’s plan to set up electric furnaces in the future to 
enhance the production of its nickel pig-iron.  From this newly formed partnership CSSI was 
incorporated. 
  
CSSI is incorporated in the Philippines. Its SEC Certificate of Registration was issued on September 6, 
2011. 
 
The primary purpose of CSSI is to invest in the business of operating and mining mineral resources 
(mineral ores) in the Philippines.  CSSI’s activities also involve prospecting, exploring, milling, 
smelting and preparing for market, whether export or domestic, of mineral ores. 
 
 
Century Summit Carrier, Inc. 
 
On December 8, 2011, CSCI was registered with the Marina Industry Authority (“Marina”) with 
Certificate No. DSO-2006-003-095 (2011) under Marina Circular 2006-003 issued pursuant to Section 4 
Paragraph 2 and Section 6 (a) of Presidential Decree No. 474 and Section 12 (a) of Executive Order 
No. 125-A Republic Act to engage in Domestic Shipping Business. The Certification is valid until 07 
December 2014. 
 
 
2.2  PLAN OF OPERATIONS 
 
Mining Operations 
The Group, through CPC, has continuing exploration work in its properties in the Province of 
Dinagat Islands.  With the mining equipment and other assets already in place, mining operations 
and nickel ore extraction in its Casiguran and Rapid City Parcel II properties will likewise be more 
aggressive.  In addition to its production of lateritic nickel ore, the group intends to produce saprolite 
nickel ore. This will boost its earning potential in 2015. This focus on mining operations is consistent 
with the Group’s strategy to optimize its assets for mineral extraction in order to take advantage of 
the large demand for its mineral ore. 
 
The management looks forward to continue developing and exploring its mineral properties.   
 
The Smelting Plant Project 
The Group’s smelting plant project, which is to be undertaken through its subsidiary CHGSI, is 
located in LIDE.  The ECC for the smelting plant project was issued last April 16, 2010.    Initial civil 
works have been undertaken on the smelting plant.  However, in late 2013, typhoon Yolanda 
wrought massive devastation in Leyte Island, significantly impairing the value of CHGSI assets in 
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Leyte.  Despite this, the company is optimistic that it will be able to pursue operations in the future as 
it continues evaluating possible investors and technology partners. 
 
The Company entered into a partnership with Sidewide Resources (H.K.) Limited, a subsidiary of 
Chaoyang Saiwai Mining Co., Ltd. of P.R. China.  This group owns an Iron Powder Processing Plant, 
Electric Furnace Smelting Plant, and primarily does trading of mineral ore.  They have offices in 
Beijing, Shanghai and Hong Kong.   
 
The Coking Coal Plant Project 
Also to be located at the LIDE, CHGSI has an approved application with PEZA for its proposed 
Coking Coal Production Project, and the Supplemental Agreement to its Registration Agreement last 
28th October 2009 was signed into effect last March 01, 2011.  The Company’s Coking Coal Plant 
project will be a support system to its Ferro-Nickel Smelting Plant.  It is CHGSI’s approach to making 
the Ferro-Nickel Smelting Plant as self-sustaining as possible. 
 
CHGSI has received its Amended Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), with Reference Code 
1003-0011 issued by the Environmental Management Bureau (EMB), Central Office, to include the 
installation of a Coking Coal Plant to be located at the Leyte Industrial Development Estate (LIDE) in 
Isabel, Leyte. 
 
The Shipping Company 
The Group undertakes shipping operations through CSCI, an 80%-owned subsidiary of CPC, which 
compliments the mining operations of CPC.  It owns three (3) units of landing craft tanks (LCT) (self-
propelled barges) with a capacity of 3000DWT. Two of the vessels are registered with the MARINA 
under the names of Century Summit 1 and Century Summit 2. The third vessel, Summit 3, has 
arrived in Surigao Port and undergoing customs clearance. These vessels are utilized for the mining 
operations of CPC and chartered out during mining season. The management of CPMHC is confident 
that over-all, operational targets for the year 2015 will be accomplished and the potential of the 
Group’s resources will be realized. 
 
2.3  RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
        For the six months ended June 30, 2015, the Group’s operation resulted to net loss of P=24.74 
million. 

 
Table 2.1 Interim Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

 
 

For the six months ended June 30 
In thousands, except % change data 2015 2014 % Change 

Revenue P=26,950 P=278,191 (90.31) 
Cost of sales (24,122) (202,766) (88.10) 
Depletion of explored mineral resources (24,293) (25,198) (3.59) 
Gross income (21,465) 50,227 (57.26) 
Other income  28,510 - 100 
Other expenses (8,192) - 100 
Operating expenses (20,279) (17,097) 18.61 
Foreign exchange - loss (1,657) (116) 1528.45 
Loss on Disposal of PPE (747) - 100 
Interest income (expense) (909) 2 (45550) 
Net income (loss) before income tax (P=24,739) 33,016 (174.93) 
Net income (loss) attributable to the equity holders of 
     the parent (P=24,808) P=33,839 (173.31) 
Earnings (Loss) per share    
Basic/Diluted (P=0.009) P=0.012 (175) 
Gross Profit Margin 
(gross income/revenue) (79.65) 18.05 (541.27) 
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2.4 OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 COMPARED WITH 
JUNE 30, 2014 
 
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, there is one shipment of nickel ore was made by the 
Group. Operating expenses of P=20 million in 2015 was incurred compared with P=17 million for the 
same period in 2014 or 18.61% higher. 
  
The Group’s operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2015 pertain mainly to taxes, 
permits and licenses, salaries and wages, depreciation and amortization, which represent 26%, 23%, 
and 20%, respectively of the total operating expenses. 
 
The Group’s Other Income pertains to Incentives generated from sale of nickel ore and sale of certain 
type of vehicles by a Subsidiary. 
 
The negative Operating Expenses pertaining to month of April to June 2015 on Page 4 was a result of 
an adjustment/reclassification of expense accounts to Cost of Sales and Inventory. 
 
 
 
2.5  FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 

Table 2.2 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 

   

In thousands, except % change data 

 June 30, 
 2015 

(Unaudited) 

December 31, 
2014 

(Audited) % Change 
Total current assets P=377,473  P=493,954 (24) 
Total assets 3,312,761   3,586,649 (8) 
Current liabilities 421,287  670,436 (37) 
Total liabilities 431,570  680,719 (37) 
Total equity attributable to equity 

holders of the parent 2,889,752   2,914,560 (1) 
Equity attributable to minority interest (8,561)  (8,630) (1) 
Total equity 2,881,191   2,905,930 (1) 
Current assets/Total assets 0.11 0.14  
Current ratio 0.90 0.74  
Debt to equity ratio 0.15 0.23  

 
 
The Group has total assets amounting to P=3.31 billion as of June 30, 2015 of which  
P=2.94 billion or 88.61% comprise of property and equipment, explored mineral resources and other 
non-current assets.  Property and equipment includes mine site development cost which applies to 
road network, pier, stockyard and land rights. Depreciation is computed using the straight line 
method. The liabilities of the Group mainly consist of payables to contractors, suppliers and related 
parties. The payable to related parties represents advances which were used to finance the operation 
of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries.   
 
The liabilities of the Group mainly consist of payables to contractors, suppliers and related parties. 
The payable to related parties represents advances which were used to finance the operation of the 
Group. 
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2.5.1  MATERIAL VARIANCES AFFECTING THE BALANCE SHEET 
 
Balance sheet accounts as of June 30, 2015 with variances of plus or minus 5 percent against  
December 31, 2014 balances are discussed, as follows: 
 
Current Assets 

1. The decrease in Cash from P=99.5 million in 2014 to P=13.76 million in 2015 is attributable to the 
payments or settlement of payables to suppliers and advances to stockholders. 

2. The decrease in Trade Receivable is attributable to the full collection of receivables from 2014 
while in the 2nd Quarter of 2015, the company made 1 shipment of nickel ore with 55,000 
WMT @ $11/WMT with a total amount of $605,000. 

3. The increase in Other Current Assets from P=67.42 million in 2014 to P=101.95 million in 2015 is 
attributable mainly to advances of the company to its Suppliers. 

4. The increase in Due from Related Parties from P=20.28 million 2014 to P=54.35 million in 2015 is 
attributable to the additional funds needed by other CPMHC subsidiaries. 

5. The increase in Inventories from P=49.92 million in 2014 to P=160.53 million in 2015 is 
attributable to the increase of production of nickel ore. As of June 30, 2015, the company has a 
beginning balance of 101,285 WMT of nickel ore and produced 260,199 WMT with an ending 
inventory of 306,484 WMT of nickel ore.    

 
Liabilities and Equity 

6. The decrease in Accounts Payable & other current liabilities from P=278.32 million in 2014 to  
P=130.32 million in 2015 are due to payments made to suppliers. 

7. The decrease of Due to a Stockholder account from P=392.11 million in 2014 to P=290.97 million 
in 2015 was due to payment or settlement of advances of stockholders. 

 
2.6  LIQUIDITY and CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The table below shows the Group’s consolidated cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2015 
and 2014: 
 

Table 2.3 Interim Unaudited Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

 For the six months ended June 30 
In thousands, except % change data 2015 2014 % change 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities (P=41,709) P=193,141 (122) 

Net cash used in investing 
activities 58,741 (308,222) (119) 

Net cash used in financing 
activities (101,144) 126,037 (180) 

Effect of exchange rate changes in 
cash (1,657) - (100) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash (85,769) 10,956 (883) 
Cash at beginning of period 99,530 4,126 2312 
Cash at end of period P=13,761 P=15,082 (9) 

 
The Group has funded its pre-operating expenses through capital-raising exercise that started in 
October 2007. The Group believes that it has sufficient resources to finance its working capital 
requirements. The Group expects to regularly undertake shipment of ore and the corresponding 
management and collection of accounts receivable, and temperance of accounts payable. Capital 
expenditures such as the additional purchase of property and equipment can be met by the Group 
via infusions of either equity or debt through the shareholders. All funding for the Group’s 
operations for the next 12 months shall be internally generated. The majority shareholder has 
committed to continually provide working capital to the Group to assure its continuous operations. 
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2.7  FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

     
All secondary licensees of the Commission (financing companies, broker dealer of securities and 
underwriters) and public companies are required to include a schedule showing financial 
soundness indicators in two comparative periods, as follows: 

   
 

June 30, December 31, 

 
2015 2014 

  (Unaudited) (Audited) 

   Current Assets P=377,473,033 P=493,953,980 
Current Liabilities 421,286,537 670,435,613 
Current Ratio 0.90 0.74 

   
   Total Liabilities P=431,569,684 P=680,718,760 
Shareholder's Equity 2,881,190,867 2,905,930,105 

Debt to equity ratio 0.15 0.23 

   
   Total Assets P=3,312,760,551 P=3,586,648,865 
Total Liabilities 431,569,684 680,718,760 

Solvency ratio 7.68 5.27 

   
   Total Assets P=3,312,760,551 P=3,586,648,865 
Shareholder's Equity 2,881,190,867 2,905,930,105 

Asset to equity ratio 1.15 1.23 

   
   Earnings(Loss) before Interest Expense and Taxes (P=25,688,726) P=338,163,241 
Interest Expense 949,488 1,758,801 

Interest rate coverage ratio (27.06)  192.27  

   
   Net Income (Loss) (P=24,739,238) P=338,409,860 
Total Assets 3,312,760,551 3,586,648,865  
Return on Asset ratio (0.007) 0.09 

   
   Net Income (Loss) (P=24,739,238) P=338,409,860 
Shareholder's Equity 2,881,190,867 2,905,930,105  
Return on Equity ratio (0.009) 0.12 
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2.8  RISKS 
 
The Group’s principal financial instruments consist of cash, trade receivables, due from related 
parties, rehabilitation funds, long-term receivable, advances to employees, suppliers and third 
parties, due to related parties and accounts payable and other liabilities. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.  
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk.  The market risk exposure of the Group can be further classified to foreign currency risk 
and commodity price risk.   
 
Risk Management Framework 
 
The Board of Directors (BOD) and management have overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Group's risk management framework.   
 
The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
the Group's activities.  The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, 
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's bank 
deposits and trade debtors and is monitored on an ongoing basis.  The objective is to reduce the risk 
of loss through default by counterparties.  The risk is managed by spreading financial transactions, 
including bank deposits, across an approved list of high quality banks. 
 
The exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments as shown in the following table: 
 
              June 30, 2015       December 31, 2014 

Cash and cash equivalents P=13,760,694  P=99,529,835  
Trade receivables 46,879,250 256,787,152 
Due from related parties 54,351,628 20,288,939 
Long-term receivables - - 
Advances to employees, 
      suppliers and third parties 

 
50,208,383 

 
16,609,690 

Rehabilitation funds 9,558,953 9,532,049 
  P=174,758,908  P=402,747,665 

 
With respect to Trade Receivables, the Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the 
individual characteristics of each customer.  The demographics of the Group's customer base have 
less of an influence on credit risk.  The Group maintains a defined credit policy to ensure that the 
credit is given only to customers with an appropriate credit history.   
 
Cash in banks and rehabilitation funds are of high grade quality.  High grade cash in banks 
rehabilitation funds are invested and deposited in reputable local banks.  Trade receivables, advances 
to employees, suppliers and third parties and amounts due from related parties are of standard grade 
quality as at June 30, 2015.  Standard grade quality financial assets are those assessed as having 
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minimal to regular instances of payment default due to ordinary / common collection issues.  These 
accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to credit actions and 
update their payments accordingly. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group 
considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in 
particular its cash resources.  Cash balances are managed with two main objectives:  maintain 
maximum liquidity and minimize the cost of borrowing. 
 
The Group manages its liquidity profile to be able to finance capital expenditures and service 
maturing debts. To cover its financing requirements, the Group intends to use internally generated 
funds and available short-term credit facilities. 
 
As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash 
flows. It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue 
fund raising activities, in case any requirements arise. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity of the Company's financial liabilities as at June 30, 2015 and 
December 31, 2014 based on contractual repayment arrangements: 

 June 30, 2015 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Within One 
Year 

More than 
One Year 

Accounts payable and other 
current liabilities P=130,316,558 P=130,316,558 P=130,316,558 P=   -     

Due to related parties    290,969,979 290,969,979 290,969,979 -     
 P=421,286,537 P=421,286,537 P=421,286,537 P=   -     

 
 December 31, 2014 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Within One 
Year 

More than 
One Year 

Accounts payable and other 
current liabilities* P=277,242,604 P=277,242,604 P=277,242,604 P=   -     

Due to related parties 392,113,755 392,113,755 392,113,755 -     
 P=669,356,359 P=669,356,359 P=669,356,359 P=   -     

*Excludes non-financial liabilities amounting to a total of P1,079,254. 
 
 
As disclosed above, the Group’s financial assets amounted only to P=174.76 million and P=402.75 
million as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, which are less than the contractual 
obligations. However, the amounts due to related parties can be rolled over at maturity; thus 
mitigating liquidity risk. 

 
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly 
earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 

 
Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return. 
 



 

40 | P a g e  
 

 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
The Group’s currency exposure relates mainly to foreign currency transactions in which trade 
receivables have to be collected and paid.   

 
The following table shows the Company’s significant foreign currency-denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities and their U.S. dollar equivalents as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014: 

 
 June 30, 2015        Dec 31, 2014 

 U.S. Dollar 
Philippine 

Peso* U.S. Dollar 
Philippine 

Peso* 
Current financial assets:     

Cash $18,089 P=815,633 $28,274 P=1,264,413 
    Trade Receivables 605,000 27,279,450 5,742,110 256,787,159 

 $623,089 P=28,095,083 $5,770,384 P=258,051,572 
1The exchange rates used to convert the U.S. dollar amounts into Philippine peso were US$1.00 to P45.09,and US$1.00 to 
P44.72,  the peso-dollar exchange rates as quoted in the Philippine Dealing System as at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 
2014, respectively. 

 
Commodity price risk 
 
The Group’s mine product revenues are based on international commodity quotations (i.e., primarily 
on London Metal Exchange quotes) over which the Group has no significant influence or control.  
This exposes the Group’s results of operations to commodity price volatilities that may significantly 
impact its cash flows. 
 
2.9  KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
The Company’s management intends to analyze future results of operations through the following 
key performance indicators, among other measures: 
 
Tons Extracted and Ore Grade Sold and Shipped 
Tons extracted and ore grade are key determinants of sales volume. Higher tonnage and ore grade 
are directly proportional to revenue level. 
 
Actual Production Cost 
Production cost per ton is a key measure of operating efficiency. A lower unit production cost both in 
ore extraction and smelting operation will result in the Company meeting, if not exceeding, its 
profitability targets. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
The Company’s earnings per share is a key measure of the Company’s effectiveness in meeting its 
financial targets that in turn, will provide investors comparable benchmarks relative to similar 
companies. 
 
 
2.10  DISTRIBUTION METHODS OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
 
Demand for Nickel from China 
China is the world’s largest producer and consumer of stainless steel.  In 2010, China produces over 
50% of the global production and that figure is expected to grow over the next few years. Common 
stainless steel contains between 2-14% Nickel. 
 
In 2006, nickel prices started to surge because of China’s huge demand and China’s nickel supply was 
affected. An opportunity surfaced when Chinese stainless steel producers realized that they need an 
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alternative supplier for Nickel. China Steel was one of the first to start producing the alternative pig 
iron (NPI) in 2006. 
 
Nickel Pig Iron (NPI) 
Laterite Nickel ore accounts for about two-thirds of the world’s nickel resources but is generally not 
used for producing refined pure nickel because of its low nickel content that ranges between 1 – 2%. 
 
After a series of sintering and smelting processes, removing impurities such as phosphorus, sulphur 
and silicon to specification, the laterite nickel ore can be processed into nickel pig iron that contains 
between 4% to 13% nickel with Iron and other metals accounting for the balance. 
 
Chinese stainless steel producers use nickel pig iron, to which they will add chromium and other 
materials, to produce 200 to 300 series stainless steel which accounts for more than 70% of total 
stainless steel production in China. 
 
The future of Nickel Pig Iron 
Chinese domestic growth demand for nickel and nickel pig iron far exceeds the increase in 
production of nickel in China over the next few years. 
 
With the Chinese Government Steel Industry Restructuring Program, many nickel pig iron producers 
have been shut down due to poor environmental standards. Hence with demand still growing at a 
rapid rate and supply of nickel pig iron being substantially reduced, demand for nickel pig iron from 
producers like China Steel is very strong. 
 
Indonesian Ore Ban  
On January 12, 2014, the ban on exports of unprocessed ore in Indonesia took effect, the result of 
legislation that was passed five years ago. Exports of lateritic nickel ore over the last several years to 
China have fueled the growth of its NPI industry. China’s NPI plants rely exclusively on nickel ore, 
primarily from Indonesia and secondarily from the Philippines. It is estimated that Indonesia sold 
over 50 million WMT of high-grade saprolite ore to China last year, in contrast to the Philippines’ 
supply of less than 10 million WMT of medium and high-grade materials. As there are limited 
sources of particularly high grade saprolite ore in our country, it is unlikely that the Philippines will 
be able to increase production to replace Indonesian ore. 
 
While stockpiles of ore have been accumulating in China over the year in review as a result of the 
impending ban, once consumed towards the latter part of 2014, NPI production should drop 
significantly and China’s stainless steel producers will have to source its nickel requirements 
elsewhere. This should lead to a more balanced global supply and demand picture, if not eventually 
leading to a deficit, in turn spurring higher nickel prices. We have indeed already seen a significant 
price increase on our ore products following the imposition of the ban. There is much speculation on 
whether or not the ore ban will continue or eventually be reversed, either in full or in part such that 
some level of exports would resume. Our belief is that much will depend on whether or not the ban 
will ultimately lead to the construction of processing plants, which is uncertain at this time given the 
high costs associated with such projects, as well as geopolitical considerations. 
 
Saprolite Nickel Ore 
The higher value saprolite nickel ore has a significant market in China, and with the Indonesian ore 
ban, this will open up the market for producers from the Philippines 
 
 
2.11  GROUP’S STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
The Group intends to take advantage of the high demand of nickel ore and chromite in China, which 
is its principal market. In addition to its production of lateritic nickel ore, the Group plans to extract 
the higher value of saprolite nickel ore for export to the Chinese market. This strategy will optimize 
revenue and improve share value. 
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Transactions with and /or Dependence on Related Parties 
 
Necessary information on related parties is already disclosed in Note 10 in the notes to the interim 
consolidated financial statements. 
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION 
 
 
There are no other information not previously reported in SEC Form 17-C that need to be reported in 
this section. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

44 | P a g e  
 

ANNEX 1 

CENTURY PEAK METALS HOLDINGS CORPORATION 
SCHEDULE OF AGING OF RELATED PARTY RECEIVABLES 
As of June 30, 2015 
(Unaudited) 
 
  Neither past due Past due but not impaired 
 Total nor impaired 180-210 days 211-240 days 
Due from related parties P=54,351,628  P=54,351,628 P=– P=– 
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Guoronlee Conlrocls

Non-curenl Arseh Held forSole ond Dhconiinued
Operoiions

Annuol Imprcvemenis to PFRSS 2012-2014 Cycle:
Chonges in melhod for disposol



Exploroiioi for ond Evotuotion ot t _lin"rot n.sorr".,
Finoncial lnsitumenh: Disctosurer

.Amendmenls lo PFRS 7: Tronsition

Amendmenh ro P,A.S 39 ono prRS 7: Rectossinco,,on of

Amendmenrs to pAS Jt ond piRS 7: Recro$iRcot:on olnnonclot As5els Effeciive Doie ondlonsilion
Amondmeqis to F, RS 7: tmpoving Di,c,osures orroujrnonclol hsitum',cnk

.AmendmenJs 10 PFRS 7: Dhciosures _ Tronsfers of

Amendments to ptRS 7: Dircrorrre, - Oft "tti--rinoncioLAiseis ond tinonciot tiobiliire\
Amendmonis lo ptRs /: Mondorory rrlecrive Dot6 oi
Prlis , ond Tronsition Disctosures

Annual hprovements jo p,RSs 2Ol2 2014 Cvctc:
continuing invotvemen t, for servicino conirocij

Annuol lmprovemenls 10 pFRSs 20t2 - 20ti Cvcte.
ohsehins disc.osues tn co^""n*. in*i"1 n,iJn1i.r

Annuol lmprovemenl, ro ptRss 20t0 - 20t? Cvcte:
Dlsclosures on the oggregoiion ofoperotino

Hedge Accounting ond omendments to PFRS 9, pFRS

Fihonciol lnsttuments

Consolidoied Enonciot Stotements

Am€ndments to PFRS tO ond pAS 28: Sole or
Conlribution of,{sseis beiween on Inveslorond iis
Associole or Joini VentrF

Amendmentr io PFRS 10, PFRS t2ond pAS 28:
lnveslrnenl Entitier: Apptyins the Con otidotion
Exceplion

Amenomenl) ro PFRS I l: Accountinq ror acqL;slions
of hierests in Joint OperotLons

Disclosure of lnlereris in Other Enliiies

Amendmenls lo PFRS 10, PFRS i l, ond pFRS l2:
Consolldoied EnoncidTstotemeni!, Joint
Anongements dnd Disclosure oi tnterest in Other
EnJiiios: Tronsilion cuidonce

Amendmenh to Pt RS t0, ptRS I2, ono pAS 27 {201t):
lnveslmenl Eniilies



PfRS r3 Foir Volue Meosurement

Anquol lmpl ovemont5 to ptR$ 20to _ 20r2 CvLte:Meoj nemen. ot lnon term re.eivobtes ord boyob,es
,Annuol lmprovemenls 10 pFRSs mt I _ z0t3 Cvcte.
scope of portfotio excepii

Reguloiory Def enot Accounh

Fhlllpplne Accouniins Siondords

(Revked)
Presentotion of Finonctol Siotements
Amendmentto PAS I: Copitot Disclosures

Amendmenh to pAS 32 ond pAS t: purrobte Finonoot
rn\rtuments ond obtigorion\ /.ris:ng on Liqu;doiio. r

Amcndrnenis lo pAS l: prerenlotion oi tiem! otOtner
uomPrehennve ln.6mc

Annuol rmprovemenh to pfRS! 2009 20ll Cvctc:
P,esenlolion oi nnonciot Stolements _ Comp;ohve
lniormoiion beyond Minimum nequirementi
Annuol lmprovement. ro pfRss 20Ot 2011 Cv.te.
Presenlction o, the Open;ng S,otemeni ot F onciot
fonton .ind Reloled Notc\

Amendmonls to pAS I i Disclosirrc tniiioJive

Siolemenl of Cosh Flows

Accounting Poticies, Chonqes in Accountino
Erlimoies ond EnoR

Eventu oflerthe Reporiins peiiod

Amenoment to PAS t2. Derened to\: Recovery ol

PAS 16 Properly, Plont ond Equipment

Annuol morovemeni! 16 PFP\( ,noe ,^r ! .-, i-.
Prooeny, itoni ond Lqrip;;i -Ct;;;;i;;
Servicing Equipmeni

Amenonen_s to PAs t6 ond eas:a: cto;;;;;.t
Acceploble Melhods of Depreciaiion ond
Amorlizoiion

Amendmenls io PAS t6 ond pAS 4i: Aqriculture:
Beorer Plonfu

Annuol lmprovemenls ro pt-Rss 20i0 - 20t2 CvctE:
Restotement of occum;loied depreciojion
(omortizoiion) on revoluotion lAmendmenis to pAS 15
ond Pr',S 381

PAS I8



Employee Benelils

Amendmenis to 8As l9: Defined Benefit plons:
Employee Conidbutions

Annuol lmprovemenls to PFRSS 20t2,201,t Cvcte:
Discounl role in o reSlonolmorkei shoring th; some
cunency - e.q.lhe Eurozone

,Accounllng forGovemmeni cronh ond Disclosure of
Govemmeni tusistonce

The Effech ofchonges in Foreign E\chonqe Roie,
Amendmenl: Nel hvestmontin o Forejsn Operotion

Bonowing Cosis

PAS 24
(Revhed)

Annuol lmpovemenir 10 p, RSs ?0tO-2012 Cvcte:
Definilion of letoted poriy

Accounling ond Reporting by Retirement Benefii

Seporote Finqnclol Siolemenis

Amgndmenls ro PAS 2/: TqutlyMetnod inSeporore
Finonciol Slotemenk

hveslmenis in Associoles ond Joint Venturer

Finon.lol Repoding in Hypennlotjonory Economies

PAS32 Finonciol ln5irumenh: Dif.osu€ ond presen,orion

Amendmenh io P,r,s 32 ond PAS t: putlobte Fnonciot
ln5lrumenh ond Oolgorion5 Arising o1 LiqLiootion

Amendmentlo PAS 32: Ctossijicotion of Riqhi! tssuet

Amendmenh io PAS 32:.Offsetting Flnoncjot Arseis
ond Hnonciol Uobiliiies

Annuol lmprovements lo PrRS\ 2009 2Ol I Cycte:
Finonclol lnrtumenis Presentoiion - tncomeTox
Coniequence! oi Distuibulions

Eomings perShore

lnleim Hnonciol Repodinq

Annuol lmprovements lo PFRSS 2009 -20t I Cicte:
lnlerim finonciol Reporlinq - Seqmeni ,A$eis ond
tiobilities

Annuol lmprovemenis io FFR55 2012 - 2014 Cycte:
DkclosJre ol informolion 'elsewhere in rhe intedm

lmpoi.menf ol 
^.ssets 

"-

Arnendmenis to PAS 36: Recoveroble Amount
Disclosures ior Non-Flnonciol A$eis

Provhions, Conilnqenl tiobilities qnd Conlingenl



PAS 39 Fnqnclot tNirumenh: Rricogniflon ond Mi '.ment

Amendmenh to pAS 39: Tronrfr:o, 
"nOGJKecognmon of EnonctotAsets onci Finonciot

Amendmenls to pAS 3?: Cosh Ftow Hedoe
Accounting of Forocost tntogrouo Trons"octionr
Amendments to pAS 39j The Foir Volue Oplion
Amendments to pAs 39 ond pF&S 4: Finonciorrruoronieo Cont o.J(
Amendments to pAS 3? ono pms z: tecto,rincot-ron ot

Amendments io pAS39 onO e, m Z, t."torrinJion otfnonoorAisels - Effective Dote ond Tmnsiijon

Amendments to pnitippine tnierpretolion lfRlc; ondr^r ry: Emtredded Derlvotive(

Amondment to pAS 39: Novotion ot Derivotives onOLAnlnuoton of Hedge Accountinq

Annuol tmprovemenh io pfnsr:otl -iorjcv.te,
hler.relotionshtp ofprRS3 ond pAS 40

Chonges h t iisting Decornrni.lrioning, Restorolon
ono Smiloruohilitic(

Members'Shorc in Co{peroiiv6 Eniilies onct simrcr
lnslrumenis

D€leJmining Whelher on 

^rongement 
Contoim o

Righls io tnlorerh odsing frcm Decommtjsionino.
RtrstoEiion ond Environmenlot Rehobititotion funds
Uob;lilies orijing from portictpoling tn o ipecific
Mokel Wosle [ecirtcot ood Eecnonic Lquipmeni
Applying ihe Reslolemenl Approoch under pAS,
I rnonclol Reporting tn Hypednflotionory tconomier

Eeossessmenl of Bnbedded Dedvoiive!

Amendmentt io Phi[pptne tnterpretotion ttRtc., ond
PAS 39: Embedded Dedvdttve(

lntedm finonciol Reporttng ond tmpoirment

PAS I I - Ihe llmit on o Definecl Benefft turet,
Minlmum fundjng RequircmenE ond their tnleroctioo

Amendmenh to Phitippino lnterpretotions tFRtC- I ,1,

Prepoyments of o Mlnlmum Funding Roqutremont

tledges ofo Nei lnveilmenj ln o Foretgn Operolton



Dis ibrdions of Non{osh A,sseh to Owners

Tronsfers oi Aiseis lrom Cunom-^6

Ertinguirhing Flnonclot Liobitities with Equity

Sirlpping Costs in ihe Production phose of o Surfoce

Govemmeni Assistonce- No Specific Retotion to
Operoling,\ciiviiies

Operoling Leoses - lncenlives

lncome Toxes -Chonges in the Tox Siolus ofon Ertity
or ih Shoreholders

Evoluoiing lhe Subslonce of Tronrociions hvolvhg
the LegolFonn of o Leose

Service Concession Afi ongements: Disclosures.

R€venu€ - BorterTronsociions lnvolving Adveriising

lnlonsible Arsbls -Web Siie Cosis

Phillpplne hlerpretotlons Commlltee auesltons ond Answers

Pr'ls 18, Appendbc porogroph 9 Revenue
recognition ior soles of properly uniis under pr+.
compleiion conirocis

PAS 27.10{d) - Cloriiicotion of criterio forexemplion
from presenling consolidoled finonciol slotemenls

PICQ&A
2007.o1-

PAS t.103{o)- Bosh of preporotion olfinonciol
stotemenh Ifon entiiy hos not opplied PFRS5 in tull

PAS 40.27 - VolLJolion of bonk reolond oiher
Propedies ocquired (RoPAl

P.AS 101.7 - Applicotion of cdterio foro quoliMng
NPAE

PAS 19.78 - Role used in discouniing post
employment benefi I obligolions

PAS 20.43 -Accountins for qovemmenl loons with lov/
intered rotes underthe omendments to IAS 20

Fromewo*.23 ond PAS i -23 - Finonciolstoiemenis
prepored on o bqsis olherihon going concem

PAS 39.AG7l-72- Role used in deiermining lhe foir
volue of qovemmenl secu,iiies inth6 Phiiippines

PIC Q&A
2010,01

PAS 39.AG7l-72- Roie used in deiermininqlhe ioir
volue ot gove.nment secudties in the Philippines

PAS I R.I 6 - Bosis of preporotion ot finonciol
slolemenls

PAs I Presentotion of tlnonclolslolements -
Curent/non-cunenl clossiJicolion of o colloble tenn



PIC Q&A
20ll-01

PAS Ll0l0 - Requkements toro third Slotemeni of
Finqnclol Posiiion

PIC Q&A
2011-O2

PFRS 3.2- Common ConlrclBusiness Combinolioro

Plc a&A
201l-03

Accountlng for lnter-compony Loons

PIC Q&A
20I t -04

PAS 32.37-38 - Cosls oi Pubttc Offerinq of Shores

Plc a&A
20t1,05

PFRS l.Dl-DB -foirVolue orRevotuotion os Deemed
Cosi

FICQ&A
2011-06

PFRS 3, Eusineis combinonoff {2008}, ond p.As 40,
lnveslmeni Properly - Acquisilion of tnvestmenl
properlies - ossel ocquisltion or business
combinoiion?

PIC Q&A
2012-01

PrRS 3.2-Applicoiion of lhe Pooling of Inlere5h
Method for Business Combinoiions of Eniities Under.
Common Conlrol in Consolidoled Fnonciol
Stotemenls

PIC Q&A
2012.02

Coslofo New Bujlding Conslrucled on the Site ofo
Previous Building '

PIC Q&A
.2013-01

Applicobilily ot sMEtG tinotQ&As on the Appticolion
of ltRsforsMEs io Philippine sMB

PIC Q&A
2013-03

PAS l, - Accounling for Employee Benefih under o
Denned Contribuiion Plon subjectio Requi€menls of
RepublicAci {RA} 7641,]he Philipplne Retlrement Low


